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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

EKATERINI KOTTARAS,

Plaintiff,
V. Civil Action No. 08-1832 (JEB)
WHOLE FOODSMARKET, INC.,

Defendant.

MEMORANDUM OPINION

Plaintiff Ekaterini Kottarasis a resident of Los Angeles County and a consumer of
premium, natural, and organic products. She is a patron of Defendant Whole Foods Market, Inc.
and also shopped at Wild Od#tarkes before the two grocery chains merged. Believing this
merger unlawflly raised prices on certain products, she brought dhistrust action against
Whole Foods. She subsequently mowsttjer Federal Rule of Civil Procedure, 28 certify a
class of Los Angeles County Whole Foods shoppers.

Now that the parties have bathbmitted briefs and offered expert testimony at a hearing
on this Motion the Court believes class certification is not appropriate here for threalcent
reasons. Firsgan essential element of Plaintiff's caséhat is,injury to individual membersfo
the class- cannot be proven througtiasswide evidencehe action accordingly, does not satisfy
Rule 23(b)(3)’s requirement that common questions predominate over individual ones. Second,
the proposed methodology of Plaintiff's expert is too vaguettie Court to rigorously analyze
Finally, Plaintiff's alternativerequest for certification under Rule 23(b){2)easily rejectecs

equitable relief in this case is merely incidental to monetary damages.
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Background

On August 28, 200AVhole Foods acquired Wild Oatanother retailer specializing in
premium, natural, and organic foodSeeCompl.,{ 1. A couple of months before the merger
was consummated, thederal Trade Commission sougienjoin iton the ground that it would
create monopoliesiieighteen cities where Whole Foods and Wild Oats were the only premium,
natural, and organic supermarkets (PNOB)e FTC’s motion for a preliminary injunctiowas
deniedby Judge Paul Friedman of this District becatleeFTC had not shown a likelihood

success on the merit=TC v. Whole FoodsMarket, Inc, 502 F. Supp. 2d, 49-50 (D.D.C.

2007). His decision was based anfindingthatthe relevant product market was broader than
PNOSand at least includE‘the retail sale of food and grocery itemssupermarkets.ld. at19;

see alsd=TC v. Whole Foods Market, Inc., 548 F.3d 1028, 1I3X. Cir. 2008)(stating that

district courtconcludedthat PNOS were notlistinct marketbecause thejcompetewithin the
broademarket of gocery stores and parmarkets”).

The D.C. Circuit reversethis decision and remanddde caseholding that the distct
court’s decision to limitts market analysis to marginal customers was erg@eWhole Foods
548 F.3d at 1041. Because core consumess, thoe who “demand[] exclusively a particular
product or package of productscan constitute a submarket worthy of antitrust protection, the
D.C. Circuit determined that the FTC may have “show[n] a likelihood of succefssiesif
using the sliding scale, tmalance any equities that might weigh against injunctidd.”In May
2009, following the remand, the FTC and Whole Foods entateé consent agreement under
which a Trustee of Whole Foods would divest itselB2flocations, none of which asin Los

Angeles County. See Decision and Order available at

http://www.ftc.gov/os/adjpro/d9324/090529wfdo.{tHdst visited Jan. 23, 2012)The FTC then



voluntarily dismised the case, and the action was terminat&geCivil Action No. 071021,
ECF No. 192.

In January 2010Rlaintiff Kottarasbroughtthis suit alleging that the mergeforeclosed
competition in thePNOS markesolely in Los Angeles Countyleading to supraompetitive
pricesthere SeeCompl. Specifically, she alleges th#thole Foods'sacquisition of Wild Oats
substantially lessened competition in violation of Section 7 of the Clayton Act,S &8 18
(Count I), created an unlawful monopoly in violation of Section 2 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C.
8 2 (Count II), and constituted an unlawagreement in restraint of trade in violation of Section
1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1, and Section 3 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 14 (Counts
[l and 1V, respectively). SeeCompl., 2. Pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23,
Plaintiff has now moved to certifg class ofall persons who purchased “premium, natural, or
organic products from Whole Foods supermarkets in California’s Los Angeles Cheattyéen
the date of the merger and the date of @ourt’s ruling SeeMot. at 1.

In supportof her Motion, Plaintiffoffers the report of her expert, Dr. Oral Capps, Jr., a
professor of Agricultural Economics and-Owrector of the Agribusiness, Food, and Consumer
Economics Research Center at Texas A&M Univers@geMot., Exh. 1(Expet Report of Dr.
Capps),1 1. Among other things, Capps was asked to determine “if, from an economic
perspective, evidence that is predominantly common to members of the proposezhitihss
used to determine ... if members of the proposed class were egvenpacted by the alleged
illegal conduct of Whole Foods.Id., 1 8. Capps assumes, for purposes of his analysis, that “the
merger between Whole Foods and Wild Oats ... allowed Whole Foods to charge supra

competitive prices to the detriment of consumetsl.”



Capps concludes that both teeistenceof damages and tremountof damage — two
distinct but related matterscan be determined using classwide evidence. According to Capps’s
report, damage occurs when a customer pays more for a product at Whole Foods than he would
have paid but for the mergeBeeid., § 53. With respect tprovingthe exstenceof damags,

Capps relies primarily on the fact that Whole Foods’s prices are uniform dassAngeles
County in any given week to opine that adverse impact can be shown with evidence common t
the class.Id., { 3843. He suggests that by analyzing pricing data for each stock keeping unit
(SKU) —the units used to designate a specific size of a specific brand of a specific prbduct

will be abk to show that members of the class were injured by the mddyef. 48. Based on

the fact that the expertsn the FTC’'s challenge of the mergeonsidered the effect of
competition on pricing, Capps states that “it seems reasonable to believe ianynpatitive
impact of the merger would take the form of increased register prités.§ 46;see alsad.,

47.

With respect to the amount of damages, Capps proposes to create an econometric model
to isolate the effect of the merger on the prices of products sold by Whole FSed€ilass
Certification Hearing Transcrigiirans.)at 1622. Using a regressi@analysisthat controls for
other factors that may affect prices, Camgpates that hean determine how much of the
overcharge for a particularoduct was due to the mergeGeeCapps Expert Report, I 59.
Multiplying the perunit amount of overcharge due the merger by the number of units sold
during the relevant period will provide the total overcharge to members of the ptapase for
that particular item.ld. This regression analysis would have to be repeated for the thousands of
products that account for most or all of Whole Foods’s sdiés.Then the overcharge for all

products would be combined to determine the total adversactnop the merger on members of



the proposed clasdd. At his deposition, Capps stated that total would be divided “by the
aggregate measure of customer count [to get] a dollar figure per member of the tiasgh
Plaintiff now denies thaCapps intends to use that method to calculate individual damages.
Trans at 7576 (quoting Capps Dep. at 93); Reply at a2gQingDefendant mischaracterizes
Plaintiff's expert by stating that he “would simply ascribe the same ovegelrgury to all class
members, regardless of whether a particular class member actuailt ioer specific item that
was the subject of the overchatpe

Capps’s position, unsurprisingly, is not shared by Whole Foods’s expert, Dr. Janusz
Ordover. Ordover, a professor of econm® at New York Universityand former Deputy
Assistant Attorney General for Economidstiae Antitrust Division of the U.S. Department of
Justice believes thatinjury to individual class membergannot be proven using common
evidence. SeeTrans. atl1l. This conclusion is based on two central premises. First, Whole
Foods shoppers buy “highly differentiated baskets of produetgct that Capps acknowledges.
SeeOpp.,Exh. A (ExpertReport of Dr. Ordover), 1 1Capps Depat 6465, 8889. Second,
Ordover’s study ofprice-change information across all legacy Whole Foods stores operating in
Los Angeles Countghowed that price movemendafter the merger were heterogenecasd
“the majority of the products sold at Whole Foods haeereasedn price” in the postmerger
period Ordover Expert Reporf] 29 (emphasis in original) In light of these factsQrdover
concludes that determining which of Whole Foods’s customers was harmed by tke \wearigl
require an individualized inquiry into “the items actually purchased by each consudhtrea
changes in price of each itemld., § 36. Ordover believes Capps’s proposed methodology is

flawed because it cannot reliably “determin[e] the fact of impact or damages suffered b



individual consumers” and because it ignores products that dropped in price as a rémult of t
merger. Id., § 11.

In order to evaluate the competing experts’ positions on class certificatob explore
the issues raised by each sitlee Court held a hearing on December 7, 2011, limited to the
direct and crosgxaminationof Capps and Ordover. The Coalsoheard brief oral argument

from counsel as to the legal significanof the testimony presented.

. Legal Standard

To certify a class under Rule 23, Plaintiff must show that theggeapclass satisfies all
four requirement®f Rule 23(a) and one of the three Rule 23(b) requireme@agFed. R. Civ.

P. 23(a)(b); see alsaVal-Mart Stores, Inc. v. Dukes, 131 S. Ct. 2541, 2548, 2551 (2Rdle

23(a) states that a class may onlyceeified if (1) the class is so numerous that joinder of all
members is impracticable (“numerosity”), (2) there are questions of i{dacbcommon to the
class (“commonality”), (3) the claims or defenses of the representativgparal of those of the
class (“typicality”), and (4) the class representative will fairly and aatedy protect the interests
of the class (“adequacy of representation”J.he moving party must show, in addition, either
that (1) the prosecution of separate actions by or against individual members lassherauld
create a risk of inconsistent adjudications, (2) the party opposing the daasstdnh or refused to
act on grounds generally applicable to the class, so that final injunctivearetefresponding
declaratory reéf is appropriate respecting the class as a wll€3) questions of law or fact
common to the members of the class predominate over any questions affecting ontiahdivi
members._SeEed. R. Civ. P. 23())-(3).

In deciding whether to certify dass under Rule 23, a district court must undertake a

“rigorous analysis” of whether the requirements of the Rule have been satisBederal



Telephone Co. of Southwest v. Falcon, 457 U.S. 147, 161 (19B&Je 23 does not set forth a

mere pleading stalard.” WaitMart, 131 S. Ct. at 2551 Rather, the party seeking class
certification bears the burden of “affirmatively demonstrat[ing] his d@mge with the Rule-
that is, he must be prepared to prove that therandeet sufficiently numerous parties, common
guestions of law or fact, etc.Id. (emphasis in original)The Court’'s analysis of whether a class
may be certified “frequently ... entail[s] some overlap with the merits of taentiff’'s
underlying clainT, requiring the Court to “probe behinlde pleadings before coming to rest on

the certification question.”ld.; see alsdralcon 457 U.S. at 160 (“[T]he class determination

generally involves considerations that are enmeshed in the factual and legatassapesing
the plaintiff's cause ofaction.” (internal citation omitted)). Because a decision on class
certification “requires a thorough examination of the factual and legal allegatidfesytonv.

Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Inc259 F3d 154,] 166/(3™ Cir. 2001)], the ourt’s

rigorous analysis may include a ‘preliminary inquiry into the merits,at 168, and the court
may ‘consider the substantive elements of the plaintiffs’ case in order to entsitorr that a

trial on those issues would taked. at 166 (quoting 5 Moore’'§ederal Practice§ 23.46[4]

(quotation marks omitted)In re Hydrogen Peroxide Antitrust Litigation, 552 F.3d 3B57-18

(3 Cir. 2008).

1.  Analysis

The battle in this case is waged over Rule 23@lthough 23(a) factors are typically
consdered first, Whole Foodsspends minimal time addressing theninstead, itprincipally
argues that Plaintiff has failed to satisfy any of the 23(b) requirem&igsntiff only seeks to

certify the class under 23(b)(2) and 23(b)(3). Since 23(b)(3) theatheart of the dispute



between the parties, the Court will address that first and then turn to 23(B%2he Court

ultimately finds that Plaintiff has not satisfiedher,her Motion cannotigceed

A. Rule 23(b)(3)

For a class action to be maintaingdder Rule 23(b)(3), the court must find th#te'
guestions of law or fact common to class members predominate over any questictirsgaffe
only individual members, and that a class action is superior to other available nfethagtty
and efficientlyadjudicating the controversy.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(Bhe twin requirements

of 23(b)(3) are commonly referred to as predominance and superi@ggln re Hydrogen

Peroxide 552 F3d at310. The 23(b)(3) predominance inquiry “tests whether propatesses

are sufficiently cohesive to warrant adjudication by representation.’hAmd°roducts, Inc. v.

Windsor, 521 U.S. 591, 623 (1997). It is “far more demanding” than Rule 23(a)’s commonality
requirement.ld. at 623-24.

There is little guidance frorthe D.C. Circuit with respect tine standard for certifying a
classunder this subsection. In 2007, an antitaeste came befo@nother court in this District
in which the plaintiffs sought to certify the class of buyers of a particulpertgnsion tug

under Rule 23(b)(3).Seeln re Nifedipine Antitrust Litigation246 F.R.D. 365 (D.D.C. 2007).

In that case, thelaintiffs alleged that an exclusive distribution agreement between one produce
of a generic version of the drug and its only compekiemt the generic price artificially high in
violation of the Sherman Actld. at 36768. Describing the standard for assessing whether
common questions predominated over individual ones, the Court stated that “plaintiffs ryeed onl
present a ‘colorable rigod by which they intend to prove impact on a predominantly common

basis.” 1d. at 369 (quotingn re Vitamins Antitrust Litigation209 F.R.D. 251, 257 (D.D.C.

2002). Furthermore, the Couindicated it “must refrain from either deciding the meritshef

plaintiff's claims or indulging in a duel ‘between opposing expertsid. (quoting In re

8



Cardizem CD Antitrust Litigation200 F.R.D. 297, 311 (E.D. Mich. 2001)){nder this lenient

standard, the District Court found that Rule 23(b)(3) was metartified the class.

The D.C. Circuit deniedhe defendantkave to file an interlocutory appeal that casg
stating that “the propriety of a district court’s refusal to scrutinize theagix@b value of
evidence proffered to demonstrate the requirements of Fed. R. Civ. P. 23 aredsitisfelt

settled.” In re Nifedipine Antitrust Litigation, et al.2009 U.S. App. LEXIS 364&t *2 (D.C.

Cir. 2009). Theopinioncites to_Eisen v. Carlisle & Jacquel#il7 U.S156, 177 (1974), for this

proposition. This citation presumably refete the Court'sstatement irEisenthat “nothing in
either the language or history of Rule 23gives a court any authority to conduct a preliminary
inquiry into the merits of a suit in order to determine whether it mayndiatained as a class
action.”ld. This language may not be as hel@slPlaintiff may wish.

The Supreme Coujtist last yeain Wal-Mart heldthat a court’'s assessment of whether
class certification is proper under Rules 23(a) and (b) frequentBls some analysis of “the
merits of the plaintiff's underlying claim.”See131 S. Ct. at 2551.The Court, moreover,
specifically notd that the abowguoted statement fromisen“is sometimes mistakenly cited to
the contrary.” Id. at 2552 n6. It explaned that, in Eisen “the judge had conducted a
preliminary inquiry into the merits of a suit, not in order to determine the propriety of
certification under Rules 23(a) and (h),but in order to shift the cost of notice required by Rule
23(c)(2) from theplaintiff to the defendant.”ld. To the extent the statement goes beyond that
issue “it is the purest dictum and is contradicted by our other cadds.The Courtwenton to
give an example o& type of case where “Rule 23(b)(3)’s requirements ... ldooften be an

insuperable barrier to class certificatiowere plaintiffs notpermitted to offer proof on



overlapping merits issuesld. Wal-Mart thus makes clear that it is appropriateand indeed
necessary in somecircumstances to “consider|[] a ntsrquestion at the Rule 23 staged.

In light of thisexplanationit is manifestthatEisendoes not stand for the proposition that
district courtsshould not scrutinize the probative value of evidence offered with respect to
whether the requirements for class certification have been r@stthe contrary, the Supreme
Court requires a “rigorous analysigalcon 457 U.S. at 161, and a preliminary inquiry into the
merits when necessary tcetliRule 23 certification inquiryal-Mart, 131 S. Ct. at Z&l. In re
Nifedipin€s low hurdle for satisfying Rule 23(b)(3)’'s predominameguirement nowseems

inconsistent with what the Supreme Court hesculatel. Seeln re Nifedipine 246 F.R.D. at

369 to demonstrate that injury can be provedctasswide basis,plaintiffs need onlypropose
method for so doing that is not “so insubstantial as to amount to no method at all.” (guaoting

re Potash Antitrust Litigatigrl59 F.R.D. 682, 697 (D. Minn. 1995))).

Having rejected thén re Nifedipenestandard, the Court must look more carefully at

common impact. In order to find that the predominance prong of 23(b)(3) has bedahanet
Court mustconcludethat “the fact of antitrust violation and the fact of antitrust impact can[] be

established through common proof.” In re New Motor Vehicles Canadian Export Antitrus

Litigation, 522 F.3d 6, 20 f1Cir. 2008);see alsdTrombley v. National City Bank, 2011 WL

5986484 at *10 (D.D.C. 2011)courts in this District have found common isstepredominate
when therds “generalized evidence which proves or disproves an element on a simultaneous
classwide basis, since such proof obviates the need to examine each class[hs¢mbasddual

position.” (quoting Vista Healthplan, Inc. v. Warner Holdings Co. lll, 246 F.R.D. 349359

(D.D.C. 2007) (internal quotations and citations omitteld®wton 259 F.3d at 172 (“If proof of

the essential elements of the cause of action requires individual treatmemiadsecertification

10



is unsuitable.”).Evidence is considered “commotd the classf the same evidence can be used

to prove an element ohé cause of action for each memb&eeBlades v. Monsanto Co., 400

F.3d 562, 566 (8Cir. 2005). If, however, members of the proposed class would need to present
evidence that varies from person to person, the matter to be proved is considered an Individua
question. Id. Because “the nature of the evidence that will suffice to resolve a question
determines whether the question is common or individual,” a court eoimgd the
predominance prong of 23(b) “must formulate some prediction aswoshpecific issues will

play out” 1d.; see alsdn re Hydrogen Peroxide, 552 F.3d at 317 (“[T]he court may ‘consider

the substantive elements of the plaintiffs’ case in ordentasion the form that a trial on those
issues would take.{citing Newton 259 F.3d at 166)).

Ultimately, the Court finds that individual, rather than common, evidence is required to
show adverse impact to the cldsseandthat,in any event, Plairffis expert’'s methodology is
too vague to support her claims.

1. Adverse Impact

Although Plaintiff briefs severahattersin relation toRule 23(b)(3)- e.g, predominance
of common questions as to market definition, market poavetquantification of damges— the
dispute between the parties focusesoor key issuewhether common or individual questions
predominate as to adverse imp&eMot. at 1535; Opp. at 2487; Reply at 1221; Surreply at
2-4. Adverse impact, in the context of this case, requires a showmmgratarylossattributable
to the anticompetitive aspect of the merger between Whole Foods and Wild Sa¢g\tlantic

Richfield Co. v. USA Petroleum Co., 495 U.S. 328, 334 (199P)aintiff need not offer

evidence as to the amount ohaizges at this stage; she must simply show that the fact of damage

can be proven using common evidencBeeln re Hydrogen Peroxides52 F.3d at 3112

11



(“Plaintiffs’ burden at the class certification stage is not to prove the elerhantitoust impact,
although in order to prevail on the merits each class member must do so. Instead, tbe task f
plaintiffs at class certification is to demonstrate that the element of antitrust impgualdecaf

proof at trial through evidence that is common to the class rather than individua to i

members.”);In re New Motor Vehicles522 F.3d at 28 (class action can be limited to liability,

leaving the amount of damages for later individual determination, but “establiskbrigy ...
still requires showing that clasmembers were injured at the consumer leveld)re Ins.

Brokerage Antitrust Litigation 579 F.3d 241, 269 ' Cir. 2009) (it suffices for class

certification “that the element of antitrust injurthat is, the fact of damagess susceptible to
comnon proof, even if the amount of damage that each plaintiff suffered couldenot

established by common prdpf Johnson v. District of Columbia, 248 F.R.D. 46, 57 (D.D.C.

2008) (“[T]he mere existence of individual damages issues in a Rule 23(b)(3) clasaatoe
cause individual issues to predominate over common issues on liability or causattorg” (c

Eubanks v. Billington, 110 F.3d 87, 96 (D.C. Cir. 1997)).

A number ofcircuits have held that plaintiffs must be able to showdhatymember of
the class was injured as a result of the defendant’s unlawful candwurcter to certify the class

SeeBell Atl. Corp. v. AT&T Corp., 339 F.3d 294, 302"(&ir. 2003) ([W] here fact of damage

cannot be established for every class member through proof common to the class, the need to
establish antitrust liability for individual class members defeats Rul®)(@3(predominance);

In re New Motor Vehicles522 F.3d at 2§plaintiff's theory “must inclde some means of

determining thattach member of the class was in fact injured, even if the amount of each

individual injury could be determined in a separate proceéyjiBggosian v. Gulf Oil, 561 F.2d

434 (3% Cir. 1977)(impact of antitrust violatioon classmay be made on common basis, “so

12



long as the commoproof adequately demonstratesr@damage to each individuglgbrogated

on other grounds by Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 561 U.S. 544 (2007).

Plaintiff disputes that all class members need to be injured to certifyatbe din support

of her argumen she points tdohenv. Pac. Inv. Mgmt.Co, 571 F.3d 677" Cir. 2009)

Kohen states that it is almost inevitablleat a class will include persons who have not been
injured by the defendant’s conduct “because at the outset of the case many ohtiexsyad the
class may be unknown, or if they are known still the facts beanngheir claims may be
unknown.” Id. at 677. Tle possibilitythat some members of the proposed class have not been
injured “does not preclude class certificationd. (citation omitted). Nevertheless;a class
should not be certified if it is apparent it contains a great many persons whesuifared no
injury at the hands of the defendantld. (citations onitted). In Kohen the court determined
that class certificationvas appropriate even though some members of the proposed class may
have been net gainers, because there was reason to believe that “probably hotarearid. at
678.

The other cases on which Plaintiff relisisnilarly make clear that a party movirigr
class certification must, at minimum, establish “widespread injury to the cl&®In re Nw.

Airlines Antitrust Litigation 208 F.R.D. 174, 223 (E.D. Mich. 2002) (“[F]Jor purposes of

determining whether to certify a class, the ‘impact’ element odrditrust claim need not be
established as to each and every class member; rather, it is enough if nh#splaroposed

method of proof promises to establish ‘widespread injury to the class’ as & otdhe

defendant’s antitrust violation.”)ln re NASDAQ MarketMakers Antitrust Litigation 169
F.R.D. 493, 523 (S.D.N.Y. 1996) (“Even if it could be shown that some individual class

members were not injured, class certification, nevertheless, is appgophare the antitrust

13



violation has caused widespread injury to the class”). In the context of the predonmugamsge
in this case, this means that Plaintiff must proffer a method that wilktasenon evidencéo
show thata substantial majoritpf the members of th@roposedclass were injured by or, put
anothemway, that there was widespread injury to the class frobefendant’s unlawful conduct.
Plaintiff, however, has failed to satisfy the very standard she herselfoséét. Even if
the regression analyses Capps proposes to perform show that the price of some products
increased as a result of the merger, they fail to take into accourteaefitscustomers may
have received therebyindeed Cappsacknowledged at the hearing that, in assessing the impact
of the merger, he will only includeroducts that increased in price due the merger in his
calculation of total damages. Trans. at44 In other words, he will not offset any losses
customers suffered from such overcharges with the gains customergdeitem products that
dropped in price because of Whole Foods’s acquisition of Wild Okts.There is thus no way
of knowing what percentage of the proposed class ultimately suffered any net ifhisyis
hardly some speculative hypothetical since, according to Ordover’s infedjasted analysis,
“the majority of produds declinedin price after the merger.” Ordover Expert Report, § 24
(emphasis added); see aldg 1 2539, Exh. 610. While Ordover has not evaluated which of
these price reductions are attributable to the merger, the most likely condkiditat may
customers saveaoney on certain products due to efficiencies created by the m&eefrans.
at 132, 157.
Several caseaslsosuggest that Capps’s approach to assessing damageaggregating
losses from the merger without crediting gatis incorrect. Kohen,the case on which Plaintiff
relies for another principle concerning class certification, indicates theg fyfam a defendant’s

unlawful conduct must be counted against lossse571 F.3d at 67F9. The opinion in that

14



case speaksf dnet gainers”- those who will not be able to prove damages because they have
obtained “oftsetting profits” from the defendant’s alleged activitid. at 676, 678. Another

court similarly determined that a class member would only be injured by arnwiuhla
environmental charge for uniform rentals if the charge “inflateddtpayments for textile rental

servicesabove the competitive (or ‘bdior’) price.” Exhaust Unlimited, Inc. v. Cintas @G,

223 F.R.D. 506, 513 (S.D. 1IR004) (emphasis added). The court concluded that individual
guestions predominated in that action because “the impact of total invoice price would not be
measureable without considering the particular mix of products andtesmovered by each
invoice.” Id. at 514 (citatioromitted).

Not only doe<Plaintiff's expert fail to account for the benefits of the merger (contrary to
law and logic), but Plaintifallsogoes so far as to move to strike Ordover’s report and testimony
because he contends (correctly, as it turns outlathaassessment wfjury mustoffsetmerger
related price decreasé®m mergeirelated pricancreass. As a threshold mattert is unclear
whether a full analysi®f Ordover’'s report and testimong even appropriate at this stage.

CompareAm. HondaMotor Co., Inc. v. Allen, 600 F.3d 81815-16 (7“ Cir. 2010) (where

expert’s opinion is critical to class certification, district court must condlysrule on any

challenge to expert’'s qualifications before deciding class certificatiostiqngwith In re Zurn

Pex Plumbing PradLiab. Litigation 267 F.R.D. 554556 (D. Minn. 2010)(“Several district

courts in the Eighth Circuit have declined to engage in adalibertanalysis at theclass
certification stage, considering only whether the expestinny is helpful in determining
whether the requisites of class certification have been met.”). Assuinisg Plaintiff's
argument that Ordover’s opinion relies ofiang-discredited legal standdrds simply incorrect

SeeMot. to Strike at 3.

15



Plaintiff contends that Ordover’s opinion cannot be helpful to the Court because it is

incompatible withthe Supreme Court’s ruling in United State®tiladelphiaNat’| Bank et al,

374 U.S. 321 (1963).SeeMot. to Strikeat 13. In that case, the Coteld that goroposedank
merger in Philadelphia violated antitrust laws because it waullstantially lessen competition.

Philadelphia Nat'l Bank374 U.Sat 35560, 365 The bankseeking to merghad asserted that

the mergewasjustified because “the increaskhdinglimit of the resulting bank will enable it
to compete with the large cof-state bank, particularly New York banks, for very large loans.”
Id. at 370. The Court, however, rejected this argument, holding that “anticompetitivesafiect
one marketicannot] be justified by procompetitive consequenceanather’ Id. (emphasis
added). In other words, a merger that substantially decreases competition iacereigliring
consumers there is not saved because it benefits a sepayaiap of consumers by creating
competition elsewhere. The issue hdrewever,is not whether to offset harms in omarket
with benefits in anothebut whetheto count benefitagainst harms thesamemarket— indeed

in the same shopping baskd®hladelphiaNationalBankdoes not address thaiestion and the

cases that dmdicate that the benefits must be factored into assessments of §aee.g, Los

Angeles Memt’ Coliseum Com’n v. National Football League, 791 F.2d 1356, 1387C{@

1986) (“An antitrust plaintiff may recover only to the ‘net’ extent of its injufyoenefits accrued

to it because of an antitrust violation, those benefits must be deducted from the gragesdam

caused by the illegal conduct.”Plaintiff’'s Motion to Stike is thus an unsuccessful gambit here.
Sincebenefits must be offset against losses, it is cleaniltispread injury to the class

simply cannot be proven through common evidence. Under a framework that properly accounts

for both mergerelated price increases and declirssme Whole Foods shoppers may have paid

more for their basketof products than they would have without the mergdr)e others may
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have paid less- depending upon what mix of produatsch purchased. Determiningwhat
proportion of shoppersuffered net harrdue toprice movementsaused by the merger therefore
requiresan analysis of each putative class mensbptrchases at Whole Foods during the class
period and the amount by which the price of each proadheingedas a result of the merger.
Since thecollection of products purchased by particular customer is only provable by
individual evidence-that is, evidence that varies from person to persomvould be impossible

to establish‘widespread injury,”’or evendetermine wb belongsin the class, with comon

proof. See, e.g.Scott v. First AmTitle Ins. Co, 276 F.R.D. 471, 483 (E.D. Ky. 2010here

each customer’s transaction must be evaluated to show irfjhey,level of individualized
inquiry required ... is cancerous to a finding of commonality; there is no common method f

resolving to whom Defendant is liablg. Windham v. Am Brands, Inc. 565 F.2d 59, 68 (&

Cir. 1977) (“[W]here the issue of damages and impact does not lend itself to suchamicedc
calculation, but requires separate minirial[s] of an overwhelming[ly] large number of
individual claims, courts have found that the ‘staggering problems of logidtics created
‘make the damage aspect of (tlegse predominate,” and render the case nageale as a
class action.”finternal quotation marks omittedjee alsdrans. at 9488 (acknowledgment by
Cappsthat determining what particulatonsumergurchased requires individualized evidence
such as receipts, credit cards recoamglscanner data péuringcustometransactions

Because a showing of widespread injury to the class is necessargrfificationand
Plaintiff has failed to propose a means of establishing this through common eyitienCeurt
finds that individual questions predominate over common ones in this case. The proposed class,
accordingly, cannot be certified under Rule 23(b)(3).

2. Vagueness d®?laintiff’'s Proposed Methodology
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Defendant also argues that the methodology offere@dppsis too vague for the Court
to even evaluate.SeeSurreply at . The Court concurs. Capps says he plans to run a
regression analysis to determine which products increased in price and lyutbvwas a result
of the merger. Yet, admittedly, he cannot simply compare befutafter prices;jnstead, he
has to account for other nonerger factors that may have affected priGappss expert report
mentions some “possible explanatory factors” that he might use in his regressgn
wholesale costadvertising or sales promotional activitieseasonality, competition from other
stores, average or median disposable income of the customer lnatskis proposal is tentative
at best. Capps Expert Repdit57. He notes that[t]he result of merits discovery may further
refine this assessmeand provide the basis for including additional explanatory factors to be
considered as part of any regression modél., 1 58. In other words, not only had Capps not
yet performed a single regression, blgohe could not even tell the Court the psecanalyses
he intended to undertak&eeTrans. atl9-28, 63-64, 158-59.

While Capps’s proposal may have satisfied there Nifedipene standard, where an

expert opinion passed muster as long as the suggested methodology amounted to rfraoe than
methal at all,” 246 F.R.D. at 369, most courts now apply more scrutiny to experts at the class
certification stage.The Third Circuit has stated that “[w]eighing confingt expert testimony at

the certification stage is not only permissible; it may be intégréne rigorous analysis Rule 23

demands.” _In re Hydrogen Peroxide, 552 F.3d at 828;als@lades 400 F.3d at 575 (“[l]n

ruling on class certification, a court may be required to resolvexpeft disputes.”). “A party’s
assurance to the court thatintends or plans to meet the requirements is insufficiein.'re

Hydrogen Peroxide, 552 F.3d at 318.
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Rule 23 was amended in 2003, and several courts have interpreted these amendments to
permit closer scrutingf and require more certainty for classttfications than beforeSee, e.g.

In re Initial Public Offering Securities Litigatiort71 F.3d 24, 39 (2 Cir. 2006) (The 2003

Amendments “arguably combine to permit a more extensive inquiry into whether Rule 23
requirements are met than was preslguappropriat€) Among other things, the amendment
changed the timing for class certification decisioifhe earlier version required courts to make

a decision on class certification “as soon as practicable after commencement afrgh Feed.

R. Civ. P. 23(c)(1)(A) Advisory Comm. Notes, 2003 amendghereas the amended rule
instructs the courto do so “[a]t an early practicable time after a person sues or is sued by a class
representative.”SeeFed. R. Civ. P. 23(c)(14). Additionally, the curreinversion eliminates
language permitting a court to conditionally certify a class, and the Aghvidammittee Notes

to the rule indicate that a court should not certify a class until it is satisfied thagtheements

of Rule 23 have been met. Thouplede changes may appear mjribey have contributed to a
shift toward stricter review of expert evidence with respect to classicaitoh decisions.See,

e.g, In re Hydrogen Peroxide, 552 F.3d at 320 (“While [the 2003] amendments do not alter the

sulstantive standards for class certification, they guide the trial couts iproper task- to
consider carefully all relevant evidence and makeddinitive determination that the

requirements of Rule 23 have been met before certifying a cla@scar Pivate Equity Invsy.

Allegiance Telecom, In¢.487 F.3d 261, 267 {5Cir. 2007) (discussing evolution of class

certification standards in light 003 amendmentsgbrogatedon other grounds by¥rica P.

John Fund, Inc. v. Halliburton Co., 131 S. Ct. 2179 (2011).

Although this Circuit has not articulated clear standards for evaluatpeyteavidence at

the class certification stagie Court agreewith other courts thahe Rule calls for careful and
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searching analysis of all evidenadth respect tavhether Rule 23’s certifi¢eon requirements
have been met, including expert opinioff§\]eglecting to resolve disputes between experts
‘amounts to a delegation of judicial power to the plaintiffs, who can obtain classaédif just

by hiring a comptent expert” In re Hydrogen Peroxide, 552 F.3d at 323 (citivgst v.

Prudential Secinc. 282 F.3d 935, 938 {7Cir. 2002)). The Court, therefore, fintdgat Capps'’s

proposed methodology is not sufficiently developed to meet Plaintiff's burden ofrghtvat
common questions predominate over individual ones, as required by Rule 2XeX3k.q.

Weisfeld v. Sun Chemical Corp., 84 Fed. Appx. 257, 264 Q8. 2004) (expert report that

“contains only bare conclusions and a statement that the expert ‘proposes’ to usela mult
regression model (which may not take into account all relevant vapiablas insufficient to

satisfy the predominance requirement of Rule 23())(3n _re Graphics Processing Usit

Antitrust Litigation 253 F.R.D.478 492 (N.D. Cal. 2008)(in recent antitrust casesmnany

courts have exhibited greater willingness to test the viability of methodologéstberts
propose to show class wide impact and injury using common proof, and are increasingly
skeptical of plaintiffs' experts who offer only generalized and theoretipeions that a
particular methodology may serve this purpose without also submitting a functioods] that

is tailored to marketdcts in the case at haid

B. Rule 23(b)(2)

Even if she does not satisfy the requirements of Rule 23(B)@ntiff briefly argues
that the proposed class cersteadbe certified under Rule 23(b)(2)SeeMot. at 3536. That
subsection permits class certification when “the party opposing the claastbdsor refusd to
act on grounds that apply generally to the class, so that final injunctiveaelefresponding
declaratory relief is appropriate respecting the class as a whéled. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(2).

Plaintiff contends that the class medisde criteriasimply because “Whole Foods has refused to
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allow competition from Wild Oats” and the injury sustained by the class ifiogg Mot. at
36.

Defendant resporsd that certification unde23(b)(2) is inappropriatebecause that
subsection does not apply wherfthe appropriate final relief relates exclusively or
predominantly to money damages.” Opp. at 37 (quoting Fed. R. Civ. Rd23ory Comm.
Notes, 1966 amends.)The Supreme Court hascentlymade clear that Dendant’s position is
correct. Although he Courthad previously'expressed serious doubt about whether claims for
monetary relief may be certified under [Rule 23(b)(2}]}ield just last year that they may rot
unless the monetary relief merely “incidental to the injunctive or declaratorglief.” Wal-
Mart, 131 S. Ct. at 2557 (internal citation omittelyhen “each class member would be entitled
to an individualized award of monetary damages,” atastfication is not permitted under Rule
23(b)(2). Id. This represents no change in the law as interpreted by the D.C. CBeeit.q,
Eubanks 110 F.3d at 9%“The underlying premise of (b)(2) certificatienthat class members
suffer from a common injury that can be addressed by classwide-rélegfins to break down
when the classeeks to recover back pay or other forms of monetary damages to be allocated

based on individual injuries.”); Richards v. Delta Airlines, Inc., 453 F.3d 525, 530 (D.C. Cir.

2006) (lass certification not permitted under Rule 23(b)(2) when requested injunctive or
declaratory relief merely reframes damages claim).

It is clear that money damages are at the heart of this case. The injury &llggadcial
loss due to overcharges resulting from the merger. This is economic harm, forRMrdiff
seeksa remedy of money damages for herself and the putative class members.PNihtiff
alsorequests “appropriate equitable, injunctive, and declaratory retleghever specifies the

form such reliefvould take. Compl. at 2%eealsoMot. at 3536. In any event, the equitable
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relief is clearlyincidental to the monetary relief, not the reverées. such, Plaintiff's request for

class certification under 23(b)(2) is easily dismissed.

V. Conclusion

For the foregoingeasons, the Court believes that clasgification is not appropriate in

this matter.An Order denying Plaintiff’'s Motion and setting a status hearing will issueayis
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